2016

**State of Utah, Plaintiff and Appellee. v. Dennis R. Atkinson,
Defendant and Appellant,**

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

UTAH CODE ANN. §78A-4-103(2)(e) and UT. R. APP. P. 3 provide this Court with jurisdiction over this appeal from the *Judgment, Sentence and Commitment*, dated August 13, 2015, (Criminal No. 141500765; Appellate Case No. 20150640) (the “**20150640 Judgment**”); the *Judgment, Sentence and Commitment*, dated August 12, 2015, (Criminal No. 141500701; Appellate Case No. 20150641); (the “**20150640 Judgment**”; and collectively with the 20150641 Judgment; the 20150642 Judgment; the 20150704; and the 20150707 Judgment the “**Judgments**”) the *Judgment, Sentence, Commitment*, dated August 12, 2015, (Criminal No. 151500293; Appellate Case No. 20150642); (the “**20150640 Judgment**”; and collectively with the 20150641 Judgment; the 20150642 Judgment; the 20150704; and the 20150707 Judgment the “**Judgments**”) the *Judgment, Sentence, and Commitment*, dated August 12, 2015, (Criminal No. 141500700; Appellate Case No. 20150704); (the “**20150640 Judgment**”; and collectively with the 20150641 Judgment; the 20150642 Judgment; the 20150704; and the 20150707 Judgment the “**Judgments**”) and the *Judgment, Sentence, and Commitment*, dated August 12, 2015, (Criminal No. 151500294; Appellate Case No. 20150707) (the “**20150640 Judgment**”; and collectively

with the 20150641 Judgment; the 20150642 Judgment; the 20150704; and the 20150707 Judgment the “**Judgments**”); by the Honorable Keith C. Barnes of the Fifth District Court, Iron County, State of Utah. A copy of the 20150640 Judgment is attached hereto as Addendum “A” and incorporated herein by this reference. A copy of the 20150641 Judgment is attached hereto as Addendum “B” and incorporated herein by this reference. A copy of the 20150642 Judgment is attached hereto as Addendum “C” and incorporated herein by this reference. A copy of the 20150704 Judgment is attached hereto as Addendum “D” and incorporated herein by this reference. A copy of the 20150707 Judgment is also attached hereto as Addendum “E” and incorporated herein by this reference.

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL, PRESERVATION AND
STANDARD OF REVIEW**

ISSUE I: *Did the trial court abuse its discretion in sentencing by improperly weighing mitigating and aggravating circumstances, particularly given the proximate cause of the crimes attributable to defendant’s physical disabilities where application of the American’s With Disabilities Act, (“**ADA**”) is non-discretionary for public entities providing services, in addition to extenuating family circumstances with defendant’s fiancée’s diagnosis with progressive cancer, and well as defendant’s sincere remorse and acceptance of accountability; instead giving greater weight to the number of crimes committed and that defendant’s brother was directly impacted?*

PRESERVATION: After pleading guilty to two (2) counts of DUI, one count of Identity Theft, one count of Forgery, and one count of Failure to Register as a Sex Offender, Atkinson addressed the court at the sentencing hearing held July 21, 2015. Atkinson addressed the trial court stating that his fiancé was unable to make it to his sentencing because she had been diagnosed with cervical cancer that had moved into her organs. R106:5. Atkinson asked for a chance so that he could be there for his fiancé and his family. *Id.* Atkinson admitted that he had made mistakes in the past but was committed to doing the right thing and to no longer put himself in those situations. *Id.* Atkinson indicated that he had recently been declared

disabled due to a back injury, needed shoulder surgery, and realized he was self-medicating with illegal substances. R106:6. In the Assessment presented to the court, Atkinson described his injuries as a “chronic medical problem which interferes with his life.” Atkinson indicated that his lower spine was deteriorating partly from a prior injury and also genetics. (20150641) R0012; (20150704) R0013. Atkinson referenced a car accident in which he had been involved that resulted in his suffering neck, shoulder, and knee injuries as well as damage to his spine and back. *Id.* Atkinson’s trial counsel, Jeffrey Slack, requested that Atkinson be allowed to serve county time on probation to a substance abuse treatment center. R106:4.

STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW (UT. R. APP. P.9(d)(4)): “We will not overturn a sentence unless it exceeds statutory or constitutional limits, the judge failed to consider all legally relevant factors, or the actions of the judge were so inherently unfair as to constitute abuse of discretion.” *State v. Sotolongo*, 2003 UT App 214, ¶ 3, 73 P.3d 991 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted); *see also State v. Boyd*, 2001 UT 30, ¶ 31, 25 P.3d 985. “The decision whether to grant or deny probation rests ‘within the sound discretion of the judge who hears the case.’” *State v. Killpack*, 2008 UT 49, ¶ 59, 191 P.3d 17; *cited with approval State v. Erskine*, 2011 UT 49, ¶¶2, 4, 246 P.3d 1218. “An appellate court may only find abuse ‘if it can be said that no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court.’” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Wright*, 893 P.2d 1113, 1120 (Utah App. 1995)); *see Erskine* at ¶ 4.

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

The following determinative constitutional and statutory provisions are attached hereto as Attachment “F” in accordance with UT. R. APP. P. 24(a)(6):

A. U.S. CONST. AMEND. VI

B. Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C.A. §794(a) and (b)(1)(A) and (B)

C. ADA, 42 U.S.C.A. § 12102

D. ADA, 42 U.S.C.A. § 12131

E. ADA, 42 U.S.C.A. § 12132

F. UT. R. CRIM P. 22(a)

G. UTAH CODE ANN. §76-3-201(2)

H. UTAH CODE ANN. §77-18-1(2)(a)

STATEMENT OF CASE¹

On November 13, 2014, the State filed an *Information* charging Atkinson with one (1) count of Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol and/or Drugs, a Third Degree Felony; and one (1) count of Alcohol Restricted Driver, a Class B Misdemeanor under district court case number 141500701. (20150641) R001-2. The State issued a *Summons* for Atkinson to report to the Iron County Jail to be booked and released. (20150641) R007-8.

On November 13, 2014, the State filed a second *Information* charging Atkinson with one (1) count of Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol and/or Drugs, a third degree felony; one (1) count of Alcohol Restricted Driver, a class B misdemeanor; (1) count of Failure to Stay in One Lane, a class C Misdemeanor; one (1) count of Open Container in a Vehicle, a class C misdemeanor; and one (1) count of Failure to Wear Safety Belt or Use Child Restraint, an infraction under district court case number 141500700. (20150704) R001-3. The State filed

¹ This appeal is a consolidation of five separate cases involving the same defendant. For purposes of this section, the records are identified separately by their appellate numbers.

a *Summons* for Atkinson to be booked into and released from the Iron County Jail. (20150704) R008-9.

On December 18, 2014, the State filed a third *Information* charging Atkinson with one (1) count of Failure to Register as a Sex Offender, a third degree felony; and one (1) count of Retail Theft, a class B Misdemeanor under district court case number 141500765. (20150640) R003-4.

On December 22, 2014, Atkinson's *Substance Use Disorder Assessment* (the "Assessment") was filed with the trial court. (20150641) R0011-4; (20150704) R0012-5. During the Assessment, Atkinson expressed that his main goal for treatment would be to "remain sober." Atkinson described his injuries as a "chronic medical problem which interferes with his life." (20150641) R0012; (20150704) R0013. Atkinson indicated that his lower spine was deteriorating partly from a prior injury and also genetics. Atkinson referenced a car accident in which he had been involved that resulted in his suffering neck, shoulder, and knee injuries as well as damage to his spine and back. (20150641)*Id.*; (20150704) *Id.*

In the *Substance Abuse Subtle Screening Inventory* (the "Screening Inventory") portion of the Assessment, Annie Yahne ("Yahne"), a Licensed Clinical Social Worker, noted the following:

Atkinson's scores indicate he is at a relatively high risk for legal problems and other types of norm violations. Since substance usage increased the likelihood of impulsive control problems, the treatment plan should include a component directed toward substance use, if there is any indication that the client is at a high risk for developing substance use problems. Structured, didactic, cognitive-behavioral interventions may be helpful.

(20150641) R0012-3; (20150704) R0013-4. At the end of Atkinson's Assessment, Yahne recommended the following for Atkinson:

It is recommended that Atkinson receive Level 1.0 Outpatient Treatment. This will consist of psycho-educational classes such as Prime for Life to assist him in identifying the consequences of high-risk behaviors, as well as determining his risk factors due to genetics and the environment. Additionally, it is recommended that Atkinson receive a minimum of four individual mental health counseling sessions to address underlying issues that may be directly or indirectly contributing to his substance problems. These sessions should be held weekly or bi-weekly. Finally, it is recommended that Atkinson attend a minimum of four support groups specific to alcohol recovers such as AA or a 12 Step Recovery Group. As noted on the SATS Scale, due to his desire for a different lifestyle and the changes he is making to that end, he is likely to engage in treatment and seek out contact with a case manager or counselor. Atkinson has already looked into registering for a Prime For Life class which will provide psycho-education and access to information regarding community resources that may prove helpful in some manner. In the event that he receives any alcohol-related charges in the future, it would be appropriate for him to immediately begin a Level II. 1-Intensive Outpatient Counseling Program or higher.

(20150641) R0014; (20150704) R0015.

Atkinson initially appeared on January 6, 2015, for district court case numbers 141500765, 141500701, 141500700, at which time he was provided a copy of the *Information* and a preliminary hearing was scheduled for February 4, 2015. (20150640) R0015; (20150641) R0024; (20150704) R0020. Also during the initial appearance, Atkinson filled out an *Affidavit of Indigency*. The trial court appointed Jeffrey Slack (“**Slack**”) to represent Atkinson under district court case numbers 141500765 and 141500701. (20150640) R0020; (20150641) R0023. The trial court also appointed Jack Burns (“**Burns**”) to represent Atkinson under district court case number 141500700. (20150704) R0027.

On February 4, 2015, Slack moved for a continuance of the preliminary hearing in district court case numbers 141500765, 141500700 and 141500701 because Atkinson was not present. (20150640) R0034; (20150704) R0039; (20150641) R0036. The trial court granted the continuance and ordered Atkinson to pay witness fees prior to the next preliminary hearing

that was scheduled for February 11, 2015. (20150640) *Id.*; (20150704) *Id.*; (20150641) *Id.* On February 11, 2015, Atkinson's preliminary hearing was re-scheduled again due to a miscommunication that lead the State to call-off their witnesses who would be testifying under district court case number 141500765. (20150640) R0036. Atkinson had not paid the \$92.50 in witness fees, but committed to have the fee paid by the end of the week. (20150640) *Id.*

On February 11, 2015, Atkinson's preliminary hearing was held under district court case numbers 141500700 and 141500701. (20150704) R0041-2; (20150641) R0038-9. After the receiving of the evidence, the trial court found that the State had presented sufficient evidence regarding the crimes with which Atkinson had been charged and bound him over for trial. (20150704) R0042; (20150641) R0038.

On March 4, 2015, Atkinson waived his preliminary hearing under district court case number 141500765 and an arraignment hearing was scheduled for April 4, 2015. (20150640) R0038. On March 27, 2015, Burns stipulated to a trial continuance under district court case number 141500700, which was submitted by the State for the reason of witness unavailability (20150704) R0052-3.

On March 31, 2015, Atkinson entered a not-guilty plea under district court case number 141500701 and the trial court scheduled a one (1) day jury trial to be held May 22, 2015. (20150641) R0040-1.

On April 14, 2015, Atkinson entered a not-guilty plea under district court case number 141500765 and the trial court scheduled a one (1) day jury trial for June 4, 2015. (20150640) R0040. Also on April 14, 2015, Slack stipulated to a trial continuance under district court case

number 141500701, which was submitted by the State for the reason of witness unavailability. (20150641) R0052.

On May 22, 2015, the State filed a fourth *Information* charging Atkinson with one (1) count of Identity Fraud, a third degree felony; one (1) count of Forgery, a third degree felony; one (1) count of Obtaining a Prescription Under False Pretenses, a third degree felony; and one (1) count of Theft, a class B misdemeanor under district court case number 151500293. (20150642) R0001-3. Also on May 22, 2015, the State filed a fifth *Information* charging Atkinson with one (1) count of Identity Fraud, a second degree felony; one (1) count of Theft, a second degree felony; one (1) count of Forgery, a third degree felony; three (3) counts of Obtaining a Prescription Under False Pretenses, a third degree felony under district court case number 151500294. (20150707) R0001-3.

On May 26, 2015, Atkinson had an Initial Appearance under district court case numbers 151500293 and 151500294, at which time a preliminary hearing was scheduled for June 2, 2015. (20150642) R0014-5 and (20150707) R0012-4. During the Initial Appearance, Atkinson filled out an *Affidavit of Indigency* (20150642) R0007-1; (20150707) R0006-1. On the *Affidavit* under employer information, Atkinson listed that disability insurance was his sole source of income. (20150642) R0007; (20150707) R0006. The trial court found Atkinson to be indigent and appointed Slack to represent Atkinson under district court case number 151500293. (20150642) R0011. The trial court additionally appointed Burns to represent Atkinson under district court case number 151500294. (20150707) R0010.

On June 2, 2015, a consolidated change of plea hearing was held for all five (5) of Atkinson's cases. During the hearing, Atkinson plead guilty to one (1) count of Failure to

Register as a Sex Offender, a third degree felony under district court case number 141500765 (20150640, R0064); one (1) count of Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol and/or Drugs, a third degree felony under district court case number 141500701 (20150641, R0065); one (1) count of Identity Fraud, a third degree felony, under district court case number 151500293 (20150642, R0023-4); one (1) count of Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol and/or Drugs, a third degree felony under district court case number 141500700 (20150704, R0065); and one (1) count of Forgery, a third degree felony under district court case number 151500294. (20150707, R0025).

The trial court scheduled a consolidated sentencing hearing in all five (5) cases and ordered Adult Probation and Parole (“**AP&P**”) to prepare a pre-sentence report (“**PSI**”). The State filed five (5) separate *Amended Information* to reflect Atkinson’s guilty pleas in five (5) of his criminal cases. (20150640) R0051-2; (20150641) R0077-8; (20150642) R0025-6; (20150704) R0066-7; (20150707) R0037-8. Atkinson initialed and signed five (5) separate *Statement of the Defendant in Support of Guilty Plea and Certificate of Counsel, and Order*, which were filed with the trial court on June 2, 2015 (collectively referred to as the “**Plea Agreement**”). (20150640) R0054-3; (20150641) R0067-6; (20150642) R0027-6; (20150704) R0068-8; (20150707) R0027-6.

One PSI report was drafted for all five (5) of Atkinson’s cases and filed with the trial court on July 16, 2015. (20150640) R0067-8; (20150641) R0081; (20150704) R0080-1; (20150642) R0038-9; (20150707) R0042-9. AP&P recommended that Atkinson be sentenced according to statute to a term of zero (0) to five (5) years in the Utah State Prison and be ordered to pay a fine in the amount of \$5,000.00 under district court case numbers 141500700,

141500701, 141500765, 151500293 and 151500294. *Id.* AP&P further recommended Atkinson pay restitution in the amount of \$7,747.47 to Valley View Medical Center under district court case number 151500594. (20150640) R0068; (20150641) R0081; (20150642) R0039; (20150704) R0081; (20150707) R0043. The PSI report suggested that Atkinson's sentencing matrix was intermediate sanctions/prison and that Atkinson needed a substance abuse evaluation and treatment. (20150640) R0068-9; (20150641) *Id.*; (20150642) *Id.*; (20150704) R0081; (20150707) R0043-4.

Atkinson provided a handwritten statement to be included in his PSI report. In the statement, Atkinson referred to his two (2) Driving Under the Influence offenses and how he "was trying to self-medicate with alcohol for the pain [he] was in." Atkinson admitted that because of the choices he had made, his fiancé and other family members had been financially victimized. Atkinson also realized that he had taken advantage of his brother by using his name, and hoped that his brother would "find it in his heart to forgive [him] one day." Atkinson further stated that he had recently been declared disabled. Atkinson indicated that all of his offenses were "linked to [him] trying to self-medicate." Atkinson expressed to the trial court that having medical insurance would enable him to be properly treated. Atkinson expressed that he wanted to try to avoid making poor choices in his life. (20150640) R0076; (20150641) R0089; (20150642) R0047; (20150704) R0089; (20150707) R0051. AP&P did not list any aggravating or mitigating circumstances that could have been considered during sentencing. (20150640) R0084; (20150641) R0097; (20150642) R0055; (20150704) R0097; (20150707) R0059.

Atkinson submitted a letter to the trial court on July 17, 2015. (20150642) R0056-7. In the letter, Atkinson expressed remorse for the crimes that he had committed and apologized to the trial court and his family. (20150642) R0056. Atkinson indicated that he had recently been declared disabled by the State of Utah, Judge Patricia Lammi and that he could provide documentation to prove that fact. *Id.* Atkinson indicated that his fiancé had been diagnosed with cancer. *Id.* Atkinson expressed that the thought of not being able to be there for his fiancé in her time of need was a harsher punishment than any sentence the trial court imposed. *Id.* Atkinson requested a lenient sentence and indicated that having been declared disabled would allow him to receive the proper treatment that he needed. (20150642) R0057.

A consolidated sentencing hearing was held on July 21, 2015. Under district court case number 141500765, Atkinson was sentenced to Failure to Register as a Sex Offender, a third degree felony, and ordered to serve an indeterminate term of not to exceed five (5) years in the Utah State Prison. (20150640) R0086-7. Atkinson was ordered to pay a court security fee in the amount of \$33. *Id.* Under district court case number 141500700, Atkinson was sentenced to Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol and/or Drugs, a third degree felony, and ordered to serve an indeterminate term of not to exceed five (5) years in the Utah State Prison. (20150704) R0098-9. Atkinson was ordered to pay a court security fee in the amount of \$33. *Id.* Under district court case number 141500701, Atkinson was sentenced to Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol and/or Drugs, a third degree felony, and ordered to serve an indeterminate term of not to exceed five (5) years in the Utah State Prison. (20150641) R0099. Atkinson was ordered to pay a court security fee in the amount of \$33. *Id.* Under district court case number 151500293, Atkinson was sentenced to Identity Fraud, a third degree felony, and

ordered to serve an indeterminate term of not to exceed five (5) years in the Utah State Prison. (20150642) R0061. Atkinson was ordered to pay a court security fee in the amount of \$33. *Id.* Under district court case number 151500294, Atkinson was sentenced to Forgery, a third degree felony, and ordered to serve an indeterminate term of not to exceed five (5) years in the Utah State Prison (20150707) R0062. Atkinson was ordered to pay a court security fee in the amount of \$33. *Id.* The trial court ordered that district court case numbers 141500701, 141500765, 141500700, and 141500294 run concurrently; however, district court case number 151500293 would run consecutively. (20150640) R0087; (20150704) R0099; (20150641) R0099; (20150642) R0061; (20150707) R0062.

A letter written by a correctional officer with the Iron County Jail was filed with the trial court on July 21, 2015. (20150640) R0085, (20150642) R0059; (20150641) R100; (20150704) R100; (20150707) R0060. The letter provided details of how Atkinson had rendered aid to the correctional officer without any regards to his own personal safety. (20150640) R0085, (20150642) R0059; (20150641) R100; (20150704) R100; (20150707) R0060.

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