2016

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/ Appellee, v. Dennis Rolland Atkinson,  
Defendant/ Appellant.**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Defendant argues that the trial court abused its discretion by sentencing him to prison instead of a more lenient, non-prison sentence. Defendant argues that the Rehabilitation Act (Rehab Act) and the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) apply to criminal sentencing decisions. Defendant argues that the trial court was required to accommodate him under the Acts granting him a downward departure in the charges, jail time, or probation rather than sentencing him to prison. Additionally, Defendant argues that the trial court did not properly consider his mitigating circumstances, in particular, his disabilities, his extenuating family circumstances, and his remorse.

Defendant's ADA and Rehab Act claim is unpreserved and he does not argue plain error. This Court should not consider it.



Regardless, Defendant has not shown that the sentencing court erred, let alone plainly so. Neither the Rehab Act nor the ADA applies to a criminal sentencing decision.

The Rehab Act applies only to the federal agencies or state agencies receiving federal funds. And no evidence supports that the trial court was receiving any federal funds.

The ADA legislates for equal access in a civil context and is designed to protect individuals with disabilities from discrimination. The ADA does not contemplate any application to criminal law. And it certainly does not contemplate that career criminals with disabilities remain free to reoffend no matter how many opportunities for freedom and reform they have squandered in the past. Further, the ADA requires giving disabled persons a “reasonable accommodation.” Yet another release into society for someone who uses those releases to commit more crimes is not a reasonable accommodation.

Even if the ADA did apply to the trial court’s sentencing decision, Defendant would not qualify for protection under them. Defendant is not a qualified disabled person under either Act.

Defendant also argues that the trial court did not give his mitigating factors adequate weight. But the record shows that the trial court reviewed

all of Defendant's mitigating circumstances. And because has an extensive criminal record riddled with probation and parole violations and committed the numerous crimes in this case while on probation, Defendant has not shown – and cannot show – that the trial court abused its discretion when it decided not to give Defendant another chance to commit more crimes while on probation.

### ARGUMENT

DEFENDANT'S UNBROKEN RECORD OF PROBATION AND PAROLE VIOLATIONS, AND HIS LENGTHY CRIMINAL RECORD—INCLUDING HIS PENCHANT FOR COMMITTING CRIMES WHILE ON PROBATION OR PAROLE—LEFT THE TRIAL COURT WITH LITTLE CHOICE BUT TO DENY HIS REQUEST FOR "ONE LAST FINAL OPPORTUNITY" AT PROBATION

Defendant challenges only his sentence. He argues that the trial court abused its discretion by denying his request for probation so he would have "open last final opportunity to show" that "he is serious about treatment this time." R106:4; Br. Appt. 44-45. Defendant argues that the Rehabilitation Act (Rehab Act) and the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) both (1) apply to criminal sentencing decisions, and (2) required the trial court to accommodate his disabilities by giving him a downward departure in the

charges, jail time or probation.<sup>4</sup> Br. Aplt. 31-40. And he argues that the trial court improperly rejected his bid for yet another chance at probation by not giving sufficient weight to his mitigating circumstances; in particular, his disabilities, his extenuating family circumstances and his remorse. Br. Aplt. 40, 45. But given his unbroken record of failure on probation and parole, the number and types of crimes Defendant committed in his fifteen year criminal history, and the number and types of crimes he committed in only eight months before the court decided not to give him another chance at probation, the trial court properly exercised its discretion to deny him "one last final opportunity" at probation. R106:4.

**A. The Americans with Disabilities Act and the Rehabilitative Act do not apply to criminal proceedings at all and certainly do not require freeing a proven criminal so he can commit more crimes.**

Defendant argues that the trial court failed to accommodate him under the ADA and the Rehab Act when it sentenced him to prison instead of a non-prison sentence. Br. Aplt. 39. But Defendant's claim is unpreserved, and this Court should not consider it. In any event, neither Act applies to a criminal sentencing decision at all. And even when they do apply, they

---

<sup>4</sup> Defendant's brief does not specify which versions of the Rehab Act and the ADA statutes or the publisher that he relies on. Thus, the State assumes he is referring to the most recent versions and cites to the most recent version of the annotated code throughout its brief.

require granting only a *reasonable* accommodation. Giving someone probation who has consistently failed at probation is not reasonable.

**1. Defendant's ADA and Rehab Act claim is unpreserved;  
thus, this Court should not consider it.**

Claims "not raised before the trial court may not be raised on appeal." *State v. Garner*, 2008 UT App 32, ¶11, 177 P.3d 637 (citation omitted). To preserve an issue for appeal, a defendant must object and the "objection must 'be specific enough to give the trial court notice of the very error' of which [the party] complains." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Bryant*, 965 P.2d 539, 546 (UT App. 1988)). If a defendant "does not argue that exceptional circumstances or plain error justifies review" of an unpreserved issue, this Court will "decline to consider it on appeal." *State v. Pledger*, 896 P.2d 1226, 1229 n.5 (Utah 1995) (internal citation omitted).

Below, Defendant argued only that his substance abuse played a role in the commission of his crimes; thus, on the court *should* give him probation to receive substance abuse treatment. R106:4. But Defendant never argued that the ADA or Rehab Act *required* giving him probation. Thus, Defendant failed to preserve this claim. *See State v. Bradley*, 2014 UT App 295, 341 P.3d 946 (unpreserved claim where Bradley only argued below that the trial court should sentence him to probation because of his health and not that a prison sentence was inappropriate because the prison



could not provide proper health care); *In re M.S.*, 174 Cal. App. 4th 1241, 1253, 95 Cal. Rptr. 3d 273 (2009) (no preservation where M.S. did not make ADA argument or request reasonable accommodation below). And Defendant does not argue on appeal that exceptional circumstances or plain error justifies review of the claim. Thus, this Court should not consider it.

**2. The Rehab Act and the ADA do not apply to a criminal sentencing decision.**

Defendant argues that the trial court violated the Rehab Act and the ADA by sentencing him to prison. Br. Appt. 33-35. Defendant believes that the Acts' reasonable accommodation requirement obligated the trial court to sentence him to no more than a downward departure in the charges, probation, or jail time. *Id.*

But neither Act applies. The Rehab Act and ADA apply only to civil claims, not to criminal proceedings or a trial court's criminal sentencing decision.

The Rehab Act cannot apply to Defendant's state court sentencing decision because it applies only the federal agencies or state agencies receiving federal funds. 29 U.S.C.A. §§791-794(f) (West 2014, 1992). Defendant has not shown that the sentencing court was receiving federal funds.

The ADA is the state and local government, and private sector counterpart to the Rehab Act. 42 U.S.C.A. §§12101, 12111 (West 2008). But it likewise does not apply to the state criminal sentencing proceedings. 42 U.S.C.A. §12101 (West 2008). Like the Rehab Act, the ADA prohibits discrimination and ensures equal opportunities for persons with disabilities in employment, state and local government services, public accommodations, commercial facilities, and transportation. 42 U.S.C.A. §12101. The ADA requires public entities that provide a service, program, or activity to make reasonable accommodations when necessary to allow disabled individuals have equal access. 42 U.S.C.A. §§12131-32 (West 1990).

To state an ADA claim, a *plaintiff* must prove in a civil suit that he is a qualified disabled person who was denied access to a program or activity because of his disability. *Spencer v. Utah State Bar*, 2012 UT 92, ¶19, 293 P.3d 360. A *plaintiff* is limited to seeking *civil and administrative* remedies, like injunctive relief or back pay. 29 U.S.C.A. §794(a) (civil remedies for Rehab Act violations); 42 U.S.C.A. §§12133 (ADA and Rehab Act remedies the same); 42 U.S.C.A. §2000e-16 (West 2014) (EEOC enforces ADA through civil suit, injunctive relief, civil appeals); 42 U.S.C.A. §2000e-5 (f), (g), (j) (West 2009) (same); see e.g., *Tennessee v. Lane*, 541 U.S. 509, 531 (2004) (civil suit where wheelchair bound plaintiffs sued for courthouse access); *In Re*

K.C, 2015 UT 92, ¶17, 362 P.3d 1248 (civil suit challenging parental rights termination holding that the Division of Child and Family Services (DCFS) must comply with ADA); *Spencer*, 2012 UT 92, ¶24 (civil suit where state bar not required to forgo practice requirement as reasonable accommodation); *Frame v. City of Arlington*, 657 F.3d 215, 231 (5th Cir. 2011) (civil suit seeking wheelchair accessible sidewalks). Neither Act allows for any criminal remedy. 29 U.S.C.A. §794a; 42 U.S.C.A. §12133; see *State v. McCammon*, 276 P.3d 838, 892 (Kan. Ct. App. 2012) (unpublished) (neither the Rehab Act nor the ADA provide for enforcement of anti-discrimination procedures as part of a criminal case).

*Defendant* brought no civil action as a plaintiff seeking a civil remedy. Instead, the State brought a criminal action as a plaintiff against Defendant. The ADA contemplates no application in the criminal context—especially not to a trial court’s sentencing decision. 42 U.S.C.A. §§12101-12213; *Wilson v. Commonwealth*, 31 Va. App. 200, 202, 522 S.E. 2d 385 (1999) (“nowhere in the ADA does it appear that Congress intended the Act to provide rights that could be asserted in a criminal proceeding or a probation revocation hearing.”); *M.S.*, 174 Cal. App. 4th at 1252-53 (ADA claim inapplicable to juvenile dispositional hearing); *McCammon*, 276 P.3d at 4 (“clearly only provides relief in civil proceedings”).

And the ADA's plain language limiting it to the civil context promotes sound policy. To stretch the ADA's reach to criminal proceedings "would indirectly but unmistakably undermine the laws that regulate dangerous behavior." *Despears v. Milwaukee County*, 63 F.3d 635, 637 (7th Cir. 1995) (Judge Richard Posner, writing). Applying the ADA to limit criminal sanctions would allow disabled persons to escape appropriate criminal penalties for their criminal behaviors, giving them unequal preferential treatment compared to healthy persons. *Id.* Under Defendant's reading of the ADA, an alcoholic who drives drunk would face a lighter sentence than a healthy person simply because it is more difficult for the alcoholic to avoid drunk driving behavior. *Id.* But of the two, the alcoholic's lack of control makes him the greater threat to the public. Treating him more leniently than the non-alcoholic drunk driver would undermine the purpose of both the criminal law and the ADA. *Id.*

Regardless, Defendant claims the trial court maintained an "affirmative obligation to accommodate" him in its capacity as a public entity. Br. Aplt. 33. But Defendant cites no authority that states that the ADA applies to a criminal sentencing decision. Nor does Defendant cite to any authority that states that the trial court violates the ADA by imposing a statutory sentence.



Because neither Act applies, nor should apply, to sentencing decisions, Defendant's ADA challenge to his sentence fails.

**3. Even if the ADA applied to a trial court's sentencing decision, it would not require giving probation to a career criminal with an unbroken record of probation and parole violations.**

Defendant argues that he is a qualified disabled individual under the Acts, thus, the trial court had an "affirmative obligation to accommodate him" by giving him a non-prison sentence. Br. Aplt. 33. But even if the ADA actually applied to a trial court's criminal sentencing decision, it would not have obligated the court to provide Defendant a non-prison sentence.

Under the ADA, a person is only entitled to a reasonable accommodation if he is a qualified disabled individual and the accommodation is necessary and reasonable. *Lane*, 541 U.S. at 512; see 42 U.S.C.A. § 12111(9), (10). Defendant is not a qualified disabled person. And a "reasonable accommodation" would not include giving him probation after so many failed prior probations and paroles, and his lengthy criminal history.

To prove that he is a qualified disabled person, Defendant must show that he has a recognized impairment and that impairment substantially limits one or more major life activities. *Carter v. Pathfinder Energy Services, Inc.*, 662 F.3d 1134, 1142 (10th Cir. 2011); 42 U.S.C.A.

§12112(2). A recognized impairment is any “physiological disorder or condition . . . affecting one or more of the following body systems:” “neurological, musculoskeletal, special sense organs, respiratory (including speech organs), cardiovascular, reproductive, [or] digestive.” 29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(h)(1) (West 2011). Major life activities are any function such as caring for oneself, performing manual tasks, walking, seeing, hearing, speaking, breathing, learning, and working. 29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(i) (EEOC definition); *see Dillon v. Mountain Coal Co.*, 569 F.3d 1215, 1218 (10th Cir. 2009) (working is a major life activity); *Holt v. Grand Lake Mental Health Ctr., Inc.*, 443 F.3d 762, 767 (10th Cir. 2006) (major life activity includes feeding oneself, driving, grooming, and cleaning house). And “[a]n impairment is substantially limiting when it renders an individual either unable or significantly restricted in her ability to perform a major life activity compared to the average person in the general population.” *Johnson v. Weld Cnty., Colo.*, 594 F.3d 1202, 1218 (10th Cir. 2010) (internal quotation omitted). An individual must prove that his impairment is substantial. *Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky., Inc. v. Williams*, 534 U.S. 184, 195 (2002), superseded by statute, ADA Amendments Act of 2008, Pub.L. No. 110-325, 122 Stat. 3553 (redefining “substantially limits”) (“insufficient for individuals attempting to prove disability status . . . to merely submit evidence of medical diagnosis of an impairment”). Thus,

merely having a medical condition does not make one disabled for purposes of the Acts. *See id.*

Here, Defendant fails to show that his back injury, drug abuse, and alcoholism qualify him as disabled under either Act. No objective record evidence supports a finding that Defendant's back issues were a qualifying disability. Although Defendant testified that he was "recently declared disabled from back injuries," that he needed surgery, and his substance abuse evaluation documented his self-report of this injury, that is not enough to show that he is a qualified-disabled-person. R106:4; R700:13 (substance abuse evaluation where Defendant describes back injury but no supporting medical records provided); *compare Carter*, 662 F.3d at 1142-1145 (Carter proved that he was a qualified disabled individual through medical testimony that he had diabetes and hepatitis C and that the diseases affected his digestive and circulatory systems and prevented him from performing common household tasks); *Carmona v. Sw. Airlines Co.*, 604 F.3d 848, 857-59 (5th Cir. 2010) (plaintiff's testimony that his arthritis made him unable to walk, along with corroborating medical records, was enough to conclude that plaintiff was a qualified disabled individual).

Defendant also cites no objective medical evidence or testimony to show that his back issues prevent him from performing any major life

activity. Indeed, the record shows that Defendant is quite capable of performing major life activities. Defendant committed all of his crimes here despite his back injury. *See* R700:13 (date of injury unclear but substance abuse assessment implies occurred prior to his crimes). And despite exacerbating his back injury in a car accident when he committed his second DUI, Defendant was able to ride a bicycle to his substance abuse assessment appointment only a month and a half later. R700:12, 13. Given that Defendant was able to continue to commit crimes and perform strenuous physical activity, the evidence before the court showed that Defendant's injury did not substantially limit his major life activities. *See Johnson*, 594 F.3d at 1218 (impairment is substantially limiting when an individual is unable or significantly restricted in ability to perform a major life activity). Thus, Defendant's back issues did not qualify him for a reasonable accommodation under the ADA.

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